1969

**Reliable Furniture Company v. American Home Assurance Co.,
Western General Agency, and General Adjustment Bureau : Brief
of Appellant**

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action filed in the District Court of Salt Lake County by plaintiff, Reliable Furniture Company, against defendants American Home Assurance Co., Western General Agency and General Adjustment Bureau. At time of trial, Security Development Company, a corporation, and American Carpet Company, a corporation, were joined as involuntary plaintiffs. The action seeks to set aside an insurance settlement under a business interruption policy, and to recover the actual loss sustained under the policy terms as well as accompanying damages.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The motion of each defendant for an involuntary dismis-

sal at the close of plaintiff's case was granted by District Judge D. Frank Wilkins from the bench on March 20, 1969, after three days of trial before a jury. A formal judgment of dismissal was entered April 28, 1969, R-34.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment of involuntary dismissal as to each defendant, and remand to the District Court for determination of all the issues by jury verdict.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Presentation of appellant's case at trial entailed three days of testimony and twenty-three exhibits. Appellant will not set out in detail all the evidence, but will outline the basic facts relied upon to establish a jury question.

Appellant will be referred to as "Reliable"; defendant American Home Assurance Co. as "American"; defendant Western General Agency as "Western"; and defendant General Adjustment Bureau as "GAB".

Reliable is a Utah corporation, having conducted a furniture operation at Ogden, Utah, from 1945 through May of 1962 at a location at 23rd and Washington. R 55, 110. It was a substantial operation, with some thirty-four full-time employees, and sales of just under one million dollars in 1959. R 62, 67. Sam Herscovitz, principal officer of Reliable, has been in the retail furniture business since 1934. R 55.

In the morning hours of March 30, 1961, a fire of unknown origin swept the Reliable store, causing extensive damage to both the premises and the merchandise therein. R 81.

Reliable at that time had a policy of insurance with Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance, (not a party to this suit) covering the stock, or inventory, and Reliable also was insured by defendant American under a "U & O", or business in-

terruption policy. P-2, R 83. Defendant Western was the general agent in Utah for both Fidelity and American, and defendant GAB was assigned to adjust both the stock loss and the business interruption loss. R 245, 246, 83, 87.

The inventory of damaged merchandise was completed and the amount of the stock loss (\$84,000) under the Fidelity policy agreed upon by Reliable and GAB within one week after the fire. R 83, 84. The damage to the store was so extensive the premises were not restored until July 20, 1961. R 91. In an attempt to reduce losses, Reliable opened its doors to dispose of some of the merchandise on May 15, forty-seven days after the fire. R 90. The store operation, due to the fire, repairs, disposing of merchandise and replacement of inventory, did not return to a substantially normal position until October, six months after the fire. R 94.

During the weeks after the fire, Reliable was engulfed by an increasingly serious need for money. R 85. This critical subject was discussed by Mr. Herscovitz at many times prior to June 19 with both GAB and Western. R 85, 86, 247, 248.

Despite this, Western did not receive authority from Fidelity to pay the stock loss until June 16, 1961, some ten weeks after Reliable and GAB had agreed on the \$84,000 figure. On that date, Jack Day, vice-president of Western, telephoned Herscovitz he had authority to pay the claim if he would come down to Salt Lake. R 249. Herscovitz did go to Western's office that day, a Friday, but was then informed by Jack Day he wanted to settle the business interruption loss (American) at the same time. R 97. The adjuster on the American claim was not then available and despite the request of Herscovitz that Reliable be paid then for the stock loss, Day arranged for a meeting in Ogden the following Monday, the 19th, to conclude the stock loss and the business in-

terruption loss. R 98.

The meeting was held in Herscovitz' office in the store on June 19, 1961, beginning at about 2:00 P.M. and lasting until about 6:30 P.M. Present were Herscovitz, William Ball, (adjuster for GAB), Day, and for a part of the time, Wayne Dykstra, Reliable's bookkeeper. Day had with him the completed and signed \$84,000 draft drawn on Fidelity and a blank draft drawn upon American.

The adjuster, Ball, obtained figures from Dykstra and spent perhaps two hours on calculations pertaining to the business interruption loss. R 99. Eventually Ball arrived at a figure of \$12,900 and proposed this to Herscovitz. Both Herscovitz and Dykstra expressed surprise and concern at the small figure (R 210) and Herscovitz then asked for payment of the stock loss only and for postponement of the business interruption settlement. R 100. At this point Jack Day, vice-president of Western, told Herscovitz he would not be paid the stock loss payment (\$84,000) unless he agreed to and signed the interruption loss settlement of \$12,900. R 100, 211. Herscovitz then turned to Ball, GAB adjuster, and asked, "Is that the way it has to be?" Ball replied, "Yes, that's the way it has to be." R 101. Day further told Herscovitz at that time he was under instructions not to deliver the \$84,000 draft unless the \$12,900 release was signed. R 101.

Herscovitz relied on these statements of Day and Ball (R 138) and in order to obtain the desperately needed monies, signed the release agreement and received both drafts at approximately 6:30 or 6:45. R 205. The \$84,000 draft remained in Day's pocket from his arrival at 2:00 P.M. until 6:30 P.M., when it was produced and delivered following execution of the \$12,900 release. R 251.

Reliable deposited the \$84,000 draft the next morning, but held the \$12,900 draft some eight or nine days until the

\$84,000 draft had in fact been paid. R 106. During this period, Herscovitz consulted with counsel and after doing so, endorsed and deposited the \$12,900 draft. D 12, R 106.

The American policy (P-2) provides, in general terms, indemnity for the reduction of gross earnings during the period of business interruption. Reliable presented testimony of gross earnings during a four-month period and a six-month period following March 30, 1961, and compared such periods to the same periods of 1960, and also compared them to the same periods of time for the average of 1958, 1959 and 1960. This testimony established the reduction of gross earnings to be:

Four months 1960 basis	\$59,467.93
Four months 3-year average	61,739.96
Six months 1960 basis	94,004.72
Six months, 3-year average	121,159.96

R 115, 116, 179. Additional expenses attributable to the interruption in excess of \$17,000 were established. R 107, 108. Herscovitz testified the loss to be at a minimum under the American policy of \$128,000. R 152.

Although Reliable kept its doors open until May of 1962, it could not survive after the disastrous fire and the action of defendants in withholding settlement of either claim for 2½ months and forcing Reliable to accept perhaps ten percent of its actual interruption loss experience. R 110.

Suit was filed August 11, 1961, shortly after the acts complained of. R 1. By leave of Court, two amendments to the complaint were filed, R 22, R 31. The relief sought is (1) setting aside the settlement of \$12,900; (2) recovery of actual loss under the American policy; (3) attendant damages; (4) damages for fraud and misrepresentation.

ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE

MOTION FOR INVOLUNTARY DISMISSAL OF DEFENDANT AMERICAN HOME ASSURANCE CO.

The trial court ruled as a matter of law the draft, D-12, constituted a complete release of any and all claims under the business interruption policy. R 35.

It is interesting to note release is an affirmative defense that must be pleaded to be effective. U.R.C.P. 8(c). Defendants have never pleaded the defense of release. R-7. No amendment to the answer was asked for or granted during trial.

This Court, in an earlier appeal of this case, Reliable vs. American, et al, 16 Ut. 211, 398 P2 685, overturned a non-suit visited upon Reliable at pre-trial by the Honorable A. H. Ellett. In reversing, this Court set out the facts as claimed by plaintiff and ruled these facts sufficient to have a jury pass upon the questions of duress and fraud:

“If we accept the facts as plaintiff contends them to be, as we are obliged to do on this review, we must assume not only that the plaintiff was in economic distress, but that the defendant knew this and took advantage of him by falsely representing that money belonging to the plaintiff could not be delivered to him, and wrongfully refusing to deliver it unless plaintiff would also accept the proffered settlement on defendant's policy, which resulted in compelling plaintiff to accept the latter settlement against his will. If found to be true, this false representation, coupled with the wrongful withholding of that which belonged to plaintiff, may well justify a finding of duress which would afford him relief from the settlement.”

A quick perusal of the facts set out in that opinion with the Statement of Facts supra shows they are parallel and substantially identical. How, then, did the trial court here differentiate the evidence at trial from the opinion, with the end

result of Reliable being ejected from court a second time without benefit of jury? Apparently the difference exists solely in D-12, the \$12,900 draft referred to in the Judgment. The document was not before this Court on the previous appeal.

Clearly, this is a distinction without a difference. This Court, on the previous appeal, had all of the facts surrounding the draft, its retention, consultation with counsel and eventual negotiation.

To quote from Respondent's Brief on the last appeal, at Page Four they set out:

"Herscovitz allegedly objected but then accepted a settlement in the sum of \$12,609.39 which was made out at that time along with a proof of loss release which Herscovitz executed. He also accepted the \$84,923.39 from Fidelity (D-68). Subsequently, Mr. Herscovitz consulted with counsel and presented both drafts for payment and accepted the proceeds (R 35)."
(Underlining Added.)

This point was developed and relied upon by Justice Henroid in his dissent in the earlier case, commenting,

"In waiting nine days, cashing it and using the proceeds, does not bespeak a lack of mutuality in measuring the length of the Chancellor's foot."

D-12 contains printed language standard to such drafts. Under normal circumstances the paid draft would evidence a release. But the case Reliable presents to this Court is not a normal case. It is a case of fraud and duress compelling Reliable to accept a token settlement or face certain destruction from lack of funds.

Admittedly, Herscovitz knew on June 19 that defendants were unfairly attempting to force a settlement on him. R 137. Knowledge of the fact of fraud or duress does not prevent

the injured party from asserting his rights thereafter. Buford vs. Lonergen, 6 U 301, 22 P 164.

At what point in time or in activity does the conduct of the victim reach the stature it was here accorded, constituting release as a matter of law? According to 76 C.J.S. Release, Sec. 32,

“It has been said that an extreme case is required before the application of the rule of ratification will be inferred from conduct, and that one should not be held to have adopted a release procured by fraud in the absence of an unequivocal act giving rise to the inference of an intent to ratify or unless reasonable minds would say that he was guilty of conduct tending to show an intention so to do.”

In the present action, Herscovitz testified he consulted counsel to determine his legal rights and thereafter deposited the check with no intention to accept or approve the settlement. R 140. The Trial Court apparently took the view there were two transactions, related but separate and independent. These were (a) the June 19 agreement resulting in signing of the Proof of Loss, P-14, and (b) the endorsement and deposit, eight or nine days later, of the \$12,900 draft, D-2. This is an arbitrary and unrealistic approach that completely emasculates the earlier Reliable opinion of this Court.

A case very much in point is Purvis vs. Pennsylvania R. Co., 198 F2d 631, 3rd C.C.A. In this case Purvis, an injured workman, signed a release to obtain his paycheck. In return he was given a check that contained a printed release paragraph above the space for endorsement, just as the American draft in this case did. Purvis took the check elsewhere, endorsed and cashed it. The trial judge held there was sufficient evidence to go to the jury on the issue of setting aside the release, but he also reversed a judgment for Purvis on

a basis identical with the ruling of our Trial Court: The endorsed check as a matter of law was a complete release. In reversing the District Court, the Third Circuit held there is no basis to separate the transactions, stating:

“We agree with the district judge that the validity of the release, under the testimony, was properly a jury question but we are forced to disagree with the interpretation of the endorsement of the check as an independent act. It seems to us that the attempted disposal of the claim must be viewed as a whole — a single business transaction. Admittedly the sole subject of the talk between Purvis and the claim agent was the payment of money by the railroad to Purvis. The latter says the money simply represented six days’ pay. The railroad man asserts that the payment was primarily to obtain a release of all claims of Purvis stemming from his accident. Whatever be the fact as to that, unquestionably the railroad check was given in exchange for the release. It is that check which had the release language on it above where Purvis endorsed it. Whether there was fraud in the obtainment of the release was held to be a jury question and rightly so. But as a practical matter this ruling was rendered completely ineffectual by the trial court, deciding that the necessary signature to the instrument received in exchange for the release constituted a new, unrelated proceeding.”

This presents the crux of appellant’s complaint. The endorsed draft, D-2, cannot and should not be taken out of context, isolated and evaluated solely on its content and the time of negotiation. To do so renders immaterial all evidence surrounding the transaction that produced the draft, the meeting of June 19. Stated differently, appellant seeks to avoid the (singular) settlement of the American policy. Appellant has presented evidence sufficient, according to this court, to have a jury pass upon the question.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE

MOTION FOR INVOLUNTARY DISMISSAL OF DEFENDANT WESTERN GENERAL AGENCY.

The trial court entered Judgment (R 34) in favor of Western upon alternative grounds,

(a) insufficient evidence to support a finding that plaintiff executed the release as a result of duress or coercion by Western; or

(b) insufficient evidence to support a finding that Reliable relied to its detriment on any representation of Western.

The argument previously made as to defendant American is involved here, so this discussion will be limited to the narrow issues found by the trial court as to Western. The first finding by the Court relates to the economic duress allegations of Reliable's complaint. The second, or alternative finding is pertinent to the fraud and misrepresentation allegations of the complaint.

As to (a) it is indeed difficult to reconcile this finding with the evidence. The sworn testimony of Herscovitz reveals he agreed to the settlement solely because it was the only way he could get the \$84,000 stock loss payment. Again, these are not two separate, isolated transactions, but one settlement resulting from the duress of defendants. Day, vice-president of Western, is the person who made the actionable statements to Herscovitz.

(b) Deals with the fraud alleged in the amendment to the complaint of Reliable (R 31). The evidence is undisputed (R 138) that Herscovitz did indeed rely upon and believe the statements made by Day. As a result of such reliance and belief, and the economic position it was in, Reliable was forced to accept the unfair settlement. That Herscovitz knew Western was acting wrongfully, and consulted counsel with refer-

ence to his rights, does not alter the fact of belief and reliance upon Day's statements.

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION FOR INVOLUNTARY DISMISSAL OF DEFENDANT GENERAL ADJUSTMENT BUREAU.

The questions of law here are identical to the Western argument; the only difference occurring in the identity of the malefactor. Ball, adjuster for GAB in charge of this interruption loss, was asked at the June 19 meeting by Herscovitz if what Day had said was correct. He replied, "That's the way it has to be." R 101. Additionally, it should be noted that Ball was the person who calculated the settlement figure this entire lawsuit is about. By adopting and confirming the statement of Day, Ball made GAB a principal in the wrongful acts complained of. It is not necessary to prove a person actually made the statement, if the proof shows he joined in or approved the statement of another. See 37 C.J.S. Fraud, Sec. 96.

4. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUBMIT THE ISSUES OF FRAUD CONTAINED IN THE AMENDMENT TO PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT TO THE JURY AS TO EACH DEFENDANT.

At pre-trial held June 5, 1968, plaintiff obtained leave of Court, Honorable Bryant H. Croft, to amend its complaint with particularity as to the fraud alleged. This was done by Amendment filed September 26, 1968, R 31, 33. The Amendment alleged a cause of action bottomed in fraud, and resting upon the statements of Day and Ball previously set out in the Statement of Facts.

The cause of action sounding in fraud is not determined by the validity of the release, it stands or falls on the proof by Reliable of the elements of Fraud as set out by this Court in Pace vs. Parrish, 122 U 141, 247 P2 273:

"(1) That a representation was made;

- (2) Concerning a presently existing material fact;
- (3) Which was false;
- (4) Which the representor either
 - (a) knew to be false, or
 - (b) made recklessly, knowing that he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation;
- (5) For the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it;
- (6) That the other party, acting reasonably and in ignorance of its falsity;
- (7) Did in fact rely upon it;
- (8) And was thereby induced to act;
- (9) To his injury and damage."

The ultimate question in review of this point is not the release, but the showing of the above elements by admissible evidence of Reliable. The distinction is noted in 37 C.J.S. Fraud, Sec. 63, as

"An action of deceit to recover damages for fraud inducing the making of a contract is not based on the contract but on the tort, and the consummation of the contract does not shield the wrongdoer or preclude recovery of damages for the fraud. Even in the case of an executory contract the action for fraud is not on the contract, but is collateral thereto."

Again, at 37 C.J.S. Fraud, Sec. 67, the rule is outlined:

"Since an action for deceit, as noted supra Sec. 63, is based on the theory of an affirmation of the contract or other transaction, a rescission is not a condition precedent to maintaining an action to recover damages occasioned by the fraud, nor need plaintiff, as a condition precedent, return or offer to return what he received."

Accordingly, this portion of the complaint of Reliable must be examined independent of the claimed release. If, as Reliable alleges, the settlement was induced by the fraud and misrepresentation of defendants, the plaintiff is entitled to recover from the tortfeasors the damages it suffered thereby:

The sums it would have recovered under the policy but for the fraud practiced upon it, less the actual amount received and plus any attendant damages it may prove.

To review the elements set out supra,

(1) Herscovitz testified the representations relied upon were made by Day, vice-president of Western, (Western being general agent for American) and affirmed by Ball, agent of GAB.

(2) Such statements obviously concerned a presently existing material fact, i.e., whether Reliable could obtain the \$84,000 draft without settlement of the interruption policy.

(3) & (4) Day testified at trial he had no such instructions, establishing the falsity of the statements made. R 257.

(5) If the statements were made, it could have been solely for the purpose of inducing Reliable to settle for the \$12,900 figure.

(6), (7) & (8) Herscovitz testified he did believe Day's statements and relied upon them in accepting the settlement.

(9) As set out in the Statement of Facts, the actual loss under the American policy was in the area of \$128,000.

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