1969

**Reliable Furniture Company v. American Home Assurance Co.,
Western General Agency, and General Adjustment Bureau : Brief
of Respondents**

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

INTRODUCTION

Appellant appeals from the trial court's determination dismissing its action against all three defendants. In analyzing the correctness of this determination it is imperative to first establish the legal theories advanced by appellant against each defendant. First as against American, plaintiff seeks to recover for its alleged business interruption loss under the provision of the American policy (R 31-33).

In so doing it seeks to set aside the effect of the settlement evidenced by the language found on the American draft, asserting that it was the result of fraud and duress. Second, as against American, Western and GAB it seeks to recover for damages allegedly caused by the alleged fraud of Mr. Day and Mr. Ball, which it asserts caused it to enter into the above mentioned settlement. Appellant also apparently seeks to claim redress from all three defendants for damages allegedly arising from the alleged fraudulent and coercive conduct of Mr. Day and Mr. Ball (R 22-28).^{FN/} What distinction can be drawn between the alleged misrepresentations in the Third Cause of Action and the allegation of fraud and coercion in the First and Second Causes of Action is difficult to ascertain. It would appear to relate to the same conduct.

Distilled to their essence, all of the allegations of the complaint hinge on appellant's assertion that it was coerced into accepting a settlement in the amount of \$12,609.39 for its business interruption loss as a condition for its receipt of \$84,923.39 for the inventory loss. Inability to support this crucial assertion would result in the failure of all of the causes of action. After the presentation of appellant's case-in-chief it was clear that there was no evidence to support this assertion and no evidence which would have justified a trier of fact in returning a verdict for appellant against any defendant.

FN/ Neither Mr. Day or Mr. Ball as individuals are parties to this action.

First, there was absolutely no evidence that appellant entered into a settlement of the business interruption loss as a result of economic duress. In fact the evidence was just to the contrary; he endorsed the American draft and obtained the proceeds *after* he had collected the proceeds from the inventory loss. Second, there was absolutely no evidence that appellant relied on any representation of Mr. Day or Mr. Ball. Again, the evidence was just to the contrary; Mr. Herscovitz knew they couldn't compel him to sign a release to obtain the proceeds of the inventory loss and he consulted with counsel before endorsing the draft. Third, there was absolutely no evidence that any of the alleged representation and coercive conduct was authorized by American, Western or GAB or that such conduct was within the scope of the responsibilities of either Mr. Day or Mr. Ball. Particularly, as to the GAB, Mr. Herscovitz testified that he knew it had nothing to do with payment.

We respectfully submit that when confronted with this complete lack of evidence supporting any of its contentions, the trial judge was legally required to dismiss this action.

When this matter was before this court for review in *Reliable vs. Fidelity and Guaranty Insurance Underwriters, Inc.* 16 U 2d 211 398 P 2d 685 (1965) only the bare pleadings and a transcript of pre-trial proceedings were before the Court. Thus, appellant's reliance on that holding is misplaced. The trial judge did exactly what this Court held it should do — give

appellant an opportunity to present all its evidence. This was done and it was properly found to be legally insufficient. Additionally, at the time this matter was before this Court the American draft, defendant's Exhibit D-12 was not in evidence. It is this Exhibit endorsed after the collection of the F & G draft, which contains the language of settlement and release, not the document of June 19, 1961, which appellant asserts that he signed only because he wanted to get the F & G draft. Such assertion has no applicability to the endorsement of the American draft.

POINT II

THE ACTION OF SAM HERSCOVITZ IN NEGOTIATING THE AMERICAN DRAFT CONSTITUTED A FULL AND FINAL SETTLEMENT OF THE BUSINESS INTERRUPTION CLAIM AND THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE THAT IT WAS THE RESULT OF FRAUD OR DURESS.

The evidence in this case demonstrates beyond peradventure that there was a dispute between Mr. Ball and Mr. Herscovitz as to the amount of the business interruption loss (R 217-218). Mr. Ball believed that it should have been substantially less than \$12,000.00; Mr. Herscovitz believed it should have been much higher. See supra pg. 5. If the dispute could not be resolved the policy provided for a method of resolution upon demand of either party (Exhibit P-2). Mr. Herscovitz was familiar with this provision (R 155), but never made any such demand either before or after he had collected the funds from the

F & G draft. In addition, there was a question as to whether or not any amount was due under the policy because of the suspicious nature of the origin of the fire (R 249). Thus, at no time prior to the preparation of its draft on June 19, 1961, did American agree to any settlement. The preparation of the various proofs of loss by appellant, either on the 15th of June or the 19th of June did not constitute an agreement by American to pay anything, they were merely claims by the insured as to what he believed his loss to be.

On its face the American draft provided that it was "in full settlement" and it provided on the reverse side that endorsement constituted "a receipt and release". There would appear to be no dispute that Mr. Herscovitz was aware of these provisions at the time he endorsed the draft and, in fact, beside consulting an attorney, was himself a law school graduate (R 54). We submit that in these circumstances, Reliable is bound by the clear language on the draft and the negotiation of the American draft constituted acceptance of the conditions of payment. Any other result would be contrary to public policy and well established legal principles. Mr. Herscovitz at the time of endorsement and collection was free to reject these conditions; he chose not to. American was under no obligation to make any payment until there was an agreement between it and the insured as to the amount of loss and a determination as to coverage.

In the spirit of compromise it made its offer, appellant accepted this offer and should be bound thereby.

The general rule is stated in 1 Am. Jr. 2d, *Accord and Satisfaction*, Section 18:

“A creditor to whom remittance is made as payment in full of an unliquidated or disputed claim has the option either of accepting it upon the condition on which it was sent or of rejecting it, and if it clearly appears that the remittance was sent upon the condition that it be accepted in full satisfaction, then failure to reject it will result in an accord and satisfaction. This, acceptance and use of a check purporting to be ‘in full’ or employing words of similar import, or accompanied by a letter to that effect, amounts to an accord and satisfaction of the larger claim of the creditor if that claim is unliquidated or disputed. The moment the creditor indorses and collects the check with knowledge that it is offered in full satisfaction of a disputed claim, he thereby agrees to the condition and is estopped from denying such agreement. It is then that the minds of the parties meet and the contract of accord and satisfaction becomes complete. It is not necessary to show that the creditor knows the legal effect of his acceptance of the check, and his intent in accepting the check is immaterial, since the mere acceptance will be regarded as assent.”

This court has adopted with approval the above quote and stated that acceptance of a check operates as a full discharge when “the condition that it is to be accepted in full satisfaction of the pending claim or

obligation . . . (is) expressly made." *Hintze vs. Se-aich*, 20 U. 2d 275, 437 P 2d 202, 207 (1968). As noted above the draft tendered to Mr. Herscovitz, and later negotiated by him, contained such an express condition.

The legal effect of the endorsement is not vitiated by the fact that Mr. Herscovitz disputed the amount due or that he was accepting the claim in full satisfaction. In 75 ALR, 905, 916, it is noted:

"Generally, where the amount due is unliquidated or disputed, and a remittance of an amount less than that claimed is sent to the creditor, together with a statement that it is in full satisfaction of the claim, and the tender is accompanied by such acts or declarations as amount to a condition that, if the remittance is accepted in full satisfaction of the disputed claim, and the creditor is aware of such conditions, the acceptance of such remittance constitutes an accord and satisfaction, *although the creditor protests at the time that the amount tendered is not accepted in full satisfaction.*" (Emphasis added).

The Restatement of Contracts, Section 420 observes:

"Acceptance by a creditor of any performance tendered by the debtor as satisfaction of a pre-existing contractual duty, or of a duty to make compensation, is not prevented from operating as satisfaction by the creditor's manifested refusal to regard it."

See also the illustrations and comment under said Section.

Appellant may not argue that payment of the

\$12,609.39 draft was a payment of an admitted part due and therefore not a complete settlement. In Wil-
leston, *Contracts*, 3d Ed. Section 129, it is stated:

“Not infrequently, though a claim is un-
liquidated or the subject of a bona fide and rea-
sonable dispute, it is conceded that at least a
certain amount is due. While it would appear
that in paying this conceded part of the claim,
the debtor was merely doing what he was pre-
viously bound to do, the law looks upon an un-
liquidated or disputed claim as a whole and
does not attempt to set a value upon it, or to de-
fine the extent of the debtor’s legal obligation.
Accordingly, such a claim is dealt with as a
chattel is dealt with, as something the ade-
quacy of which as consideration will not be
measured. By the weight of authority, the pay-
ment of the amount admittedly due will sup-
port a promise to discharge the whole claim.
Whether such payment is made by check or
otherwise is immaterial.”

In any event, in the case at bar, this was a dis-
puted claim with no admission by American that any
amount was due and owing on June 19, 1961, or at
the time of endorsement.

Nor should Appellant be heard to claim that the
endorsement was void because it was the result of any
fraud, duress or coercion existing at that time. The
only duress testified to by appellant’s president was
the need for the i n v e n t o r y loss payment (R 94,

153).^{FN/} These funds had been collected by appellant prior to the endorsement of the American draft so the duress, if any, was alleviated. At no time during the trial was Appellant able to articulate any theory of fraud, duress or coercion which influenced his decision to endorse the draft and collect the funds.

In comparable cases where duress may have existed, but ended before the execution of the release, the courts have barred recovery. *Gottlieb vs. Charles Scribner Sons*, 232 Ala. 33, 166 So. 685 (1936) ; *Kall vs. W. G. Block Co.*, 319 Ill. 339, 150 N.E. 254 (1926) ; *Ashland Coal and Coke Company vs. Old Ben Coal Corporation*, 187 Atl. 596 (Del. 1934) ; *Neher vs. Kerr*, 70 Ind. App. 363, 123 N.E. 467 (1919).

We submit that when Appellant made a decision to endorse the American draft, he was fully aware of the consequences and he should not now be heard to complain.

POINT III

THE ACTION OF SAM HERSCOVITZ IN NEGOTIATING THE AMERICAN DRAFT IN SETTLEMENT OF THE BUSINESS INTERRUPTION CLAIM CONSTITUTED A RATIFICATION OF THE EVENTS OF JUNE 19th.

FN/ Typical of appellant's position was the following testimony of Mr. Herscovitz at page 153 of the reporters transcript:

"Q. Mr. Herscovitz, so I understand this clearly, is your testimony that the only reason you signed Defendant's Exhibit 13, which is the Proof of Loss, agreeing to the amount of the loss was because Mr. Day said to you, 'If you don't sign this, you aren't going to get your \$84,000.00' is that correct?"

"A. Absolutely correct."

Obviously, once the funds were collected the threat was meaningless.

Appellant argues that the trial court took the endorsed American draft out of context and that it should have reviewed the transaction as a whole. We submit that it is appellant who seeks to ignore the entire transaction and seeks only to focus on the alleged events of June 19, 1961. Typical of this attempt is the following language from appellants brief at page 7:

“But the case Reliable presents to this Court is not a normal case. It is a case of fraud and duress compelling Reliable to accept a token settlement or face certain destruction from lack of funds.”

We believe it is fair to ask appellant a number of questions. What *compelled* it to endorse the American draft after collecting the \$84,923.39? What *compelled* it to endorse the American draft at all? What prevented appellant from merely destroying the draft? What prevented appellant from placing the draft in an envelope and returning it to where it came? The answer to all these questions is obvious — nothing, except Mr. Herscovitz’s desire to acquire “the \$12,609.39 in [his] bank account.” (R 155).

We submit that even if one accepts Mr. Herscovitz’s testimony concerning the events of June 19, 1961, his conduct in endorsing the American draft after the termination of any economic duress, demonstrated that he was willing to abide by the settlement of June 19, 1961 regardless of how that settlement was achieved.

The general rule is stated in 77 A.L.R. 2d 427, 428:

“A contract entered into under duress is generally considered not void, but merely voidable and is capable of being ratified after the duress is removed, such ratification resulting if a party entering into the contract under duress intentionally accepts the benefits growing out of it, remains silent, acquiesces in it for any considerable length of time after opportunity is afforded to void it or to have it annulled, or recognizes its validity by acting on it.”

In this regard it should be emphasized again that Herscovitz consulted with counsel, was himself legally trained, and expressly made certain that the F & G draft had cleared and that he had the available cash on hand to continue to operate his business before endorsing the American draft. Having had the opportunity to escape from the claimed duress, and thereafter having endorsed the draft and accepted the fruits of the conduct which appellant contends was tantamount to duress, it is apparent that a ratification occurred. In this regard, the case of *State vs. Barlow*, 107 Ut 292, 153 P 2d 647 (1944), is pertinent where the Court stated:

“As a rule, in a transaction requiring mutual consent, if consent is obtained by coercion, the victim may either affirm or avoid the transaction, but he may not claim the benefits and escape the obligations.” (P. 307)

Implicit in the court's language is the conclusion

that accepting the benefits in the face of duress constitutes ratification.

In *Farrington vs. Granite Stake Fire Insurance Co.*, 120 Ut. 109, 232 P 2d 754 (1951), the Court rejected the right of an insurance company to rescind for misrepresentation where the insurer knew of the facts a few days after a fire and accepted a premium payment knowing of the fire and did nothing "till suit was brought". The court noted:

"One who claims a right of rescission must act with reasonable promptness, and if after such knowledge, he does any substantial act which recognizes the contract as in force, such as the acceptance of more than half of the premium would be, such an act would usually constitute a waiver of his right to rescind." (P. 119)

The old adage of "What is sauce for the goose, is also sauce for the gander" is pertinent.

In *LeVine vs. Whitehouse*, 37 Ut. 260, 109 Pac. 2 (1910), the Court in considering the effect of fraud stated:

"The rule is that, where a party has been induced to enter into a contract by false and fraudulent representations, he may . . . rescind the contract, but the great weight of authority holds that, if the party defrauded continues to receive benefits under the contract after he has become aware of the fraud, he will be deemed to have affirmed the contract and waived his right to rescind." (P. 272)

Of importance is the fact that the court accepted the following quote from 9 Cyc. 436:

“The party defrauded will generally lose his right to rescind if he takes any benefit under the contract or does any act which *implies an intention to abide by it or an affirmation of it after he has become aware of the fraud.*” (Emphasis added)

The importance of the wording is the recognition of an intention or implication to affirm from the act of accepting the benefits.

Subsequently, in the decision of *Taylor vs. Moore*, 87 Ut. 493, 51 P 2d 222 (1935), a case involving fraud (and it should be remembered that this court in the instant case used the word fraud), the Utah Supreme Court approved the following quote from the decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Shappirio vs. Goldberg*, 192 U.S. 232 (1904) :

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